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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
AIDAN HOWARD, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
UNIVERSITY OF VIRGINIA, TERESA A. 
SULLIVAN, CRAIG LITTLEPAGE, 
MARQUES HAGANS, FAMIKA ANAE, 
DONI DOWLING, and DAVID ELDRIDGE, 
 
 Defendants. 

CIVIL DIVISION 
 
Case No.       
 
 

 
COMPLAINT  

 
 AND NOW COMES Plaintiff Aidan Howard, by and through his undersigned counsel, 

C. James Zeszutek, Esq., Nicholas J. Godfrey, Esq. and Dinsmore & Shohl LLP, and files the 

following Complaint against Defendants University of Virginia, Teresa A. Sullivan, Craig 

Littlepage, Marques Hagans, Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, and David Eldridge. 

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

Plaintiff Aidan Howard files this Complaint against Defendants University of Virginia, 

Teresa A. Sullivan, Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans, Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, and David 

Eldridge to seek money damages based upon Defendants’ willful violations of Title IX of the 

Education Amendments Act of 1972, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681 – 1688, Section 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12134, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the gender- and disability-based 

abuse, harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, mental, and emotional abuse and 

harassment which Aidan suffered as a result of Defendants’ tortious conduct during the summer 

of 2016. 
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PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Aidan Howard (“Aidan”) is an adult individual and domiciliary and 

resident of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and was, at all times relevant to this Complaint, 

living in Charlottesville, Virginia while attending Defendant University of Virginia.   

2. Defendant University of Virginia (“UVA” or the “University”) is a public-private 

flagship and research university located in Charlottesville, Virginia.  The University received and 

continues to receive federal financial assistance, which it uses to support its academic and 

athletic programs.   

3. Defendant Teresa A. Sullivan (“Sullivan”) is an adult individual and the President 

of the University, and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, maintained her domicile and 

residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

4. Defendant Craig Littlepage (“Littlepage”) is an adult individual and the Director 

of Athletics at the University, and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, maintained his 

domicile and residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

5. Defendant Marques Hagans (“Hagans”) is an adult individual and the Wide 

Receivers Coach for the University’s Football Program, and, at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, maintained his domicile and residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

6. Defendant Famika Anae (“Anae”) is an adult individual and a Graduate Assistant 

for the University’s Football Program, and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, maintained his 

domicile and residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

7. Defendant Doni Dowling (“Dowling”) is an adult individual and a student-athlete 

and member of the University’s Football Program, and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, 

maintained his domicile and residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
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8. Defendant David Eldridge (“Eldridge”) is an adult individual and a student-athlete 

and member of the University’s Football Program, and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, 

maintained his domicile and residence in the Commonwealth of Virginia.1 

JURISDICTION  

9. The United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania has 

subject matter jurisdiction over Aidan’s claims under Title IX of the Education Amendments Act 

of 1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because the same 

arise under the laws of the United States.   

10. The United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania has 

subject matter jurisdiction over Aidan’s state law tort claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) 

because complete diversity exists among the parties as (1) Plaintiff Aidan is a citizen of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Defendants UVA, Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, Anae, 

Dowling, and Eldridge are citizens of the Commonwealth of Virginia and (2) the amount in 

controversy exceeds $75,000.00, exclusive of interests and costs. 

11. In the alternative, the United States District Court for the Western District of 

Pennsylvania has subject matter jurisdiction over Aidan’s state law tort claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1367(a) because the state law tort claims are so related to Aidan’s claims under Title IX 

of the Education Amendments Act of 1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title 

II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 that they form part of 

the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 

                                                 
1 UVA, Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, Anae, Dowling, and Eldridge are sometimes collectively referred to as 
“Defendants.” 
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12. The United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania has 

personal jurisdiction over Defendants UVA, Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, Anae, Dowling, and 

Eldridge because each has sufficient minimum contacts with the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania. 

VENUE 

13. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Western District of 

Pennsylvania pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) in that a substantial part of the events and 

omissions giving rise to Aidan’s claims occurred in the Western District of Pennsylvania. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND  

14. On February 3, 2016, Aidan signed a National Letter of Intent (the “National 

Letter of Intent”) with UVA to become a student-athlete at the University and to compete with 

the University’s Football Program for the 2016-2017 academic year.  

15. In early July 2016, Aidan began attending summer school at the University. 

16. During the first few weeks of summer school, Aidan and other first-year student-

athletes with the Football Program occasionally interacted with the Football Program’s second-, 

third-, and fourth-year student-athletes, including Defendants Dowling and Eldridge. 

17. During these initial interactions with the Football Program’s second-, third-, and 

fourth-year student-athletes, upperclassmen, including Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, made 

Aidan the target of bullying and harassing conduct because of his soft-spoken and mild-

mannered nature.  Indeed, these upperclassmen, including Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, 

targeted Aidan because they perceived him to be “soft” and “not manly” like other student-

athletes in the Football Program. 
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18. In addition, during these initial interactions with the Football Program’s second-, 

third-, and fourth-year student-athletes, upperclassmen, including Defendants Dowling and 

Eldridge, made Aidan the target of bullying and harassing conduct because he did not understand 

“routes” and “plays” as well as other “smarter” student-athletes in the Football Program. 

19. During these initial interactions with the Football Program’s second-, third-, and 

fourth-year student-athletes, upperclassmen, including Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, would 

question Aidan’s “toughness” and “manliness” and would call him “stupid,” “dumb,” “slow,” 

and “retarded.” 

20. In mid-July 2016, Aidan, along with other first-year student-athletes with the 

Football Program, began formally practicing with the Football Program’s second-, third-, and 

fourth-year student-athletes, including Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, under the guidance 

and coaching of the Football Program’s coaching staff, including Defendants Hagans and Anae. 

21. Aidan was designated to participate with the University’s Football Program as a 

Wide Receiver.   

22. Accordingly, Aidan spent a considerable amount of time with Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge, who are both established Wide Receivers with the Football Program, as 

well as Defendant Hagans, the Football Program’s Wide Receivers Coach. 

23. At or about the same time, Aidan, along with other first-year student-athletes with 

the Football Program, took a test to determine which classes they would be placed into for the 

fall semester. 

24. As a result of this test, Aidan was diagnosed with a learning disability, and was 

slated to receive additional educational support over and above that provided to other student-

athletes. 
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25. Defendants Hagans, Dowling, and Eldridge were all aware of Aidan’s learning 

disability and that, because of his learning disability, Aidan received additional educational 

support over and above that provided to other student-athletes. 

26. Nevertheless, in Wide Receivers’ meetings being led by Defendant Hagans, 

Defendants Dowling and Eldridge would bully and harass Aidan when he did not grasp the 

Football Program’s “plays” and “schemes” as well as Dowling and Eldridge and others did, 

without any reprimand from Hagans. 

27. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Defendants Dowling and Eldridge would frequently call Aidan “stupid,” “dumb,” 

“slow,” and “retarded.”    

28. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Dowling and Eldridge would frequently make similar comments to others about Aidan 

being “stupid,” “dumb,” “slow,” and “retarded.”   

29. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Defendants Dowling and Eldridge would take photographs of Aidan using their cell 

phones and then place “captions” or “comments” on the photographs stating that Aidan was 

“dumb.”  Dowling and Eldridge frequently “forwarded” or “shared” the photographs to/with 

others with comments such as “When you don’t know your plays.” 

30. Defendant Hagans would, from time to time, bully and harass Aidan when he did 

not grasp the Football Program’s “plays” and “schemes” as well as Defendants Dowling and 

Eldridge and others did, which only served to promote and encourage Dowling’s and Eldridge’s 

bullying and harassing conduct toward Aidan.   
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31. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Defendants Dowling and Eldridge would frequently question Aidan’s toughness and 

manliness. 

32. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others would frequently ostracize Aidan, and 

force him to eat lunch and dinner on his own. 

33. In the presence of Defendant Hagans and other coaches with the Football 

Program, Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others would frequently ostracize Aidan, and 

force him to eat lunch and dinner on his own, because he was not as tough and manly as others 

with the Football Program. 

34. Defendants Dowling’s and Eldridge’s bullying and harassing conduct continued 

until Dowling and Eldridge forced Aidan to fight another first-year student-athlete with the 

Football program, Hassis Dubois (“Hassis”), after a team practice on August 12, 2016, as a part 

of Aidan’s “initiation” into the Football Program and to prove his toughness and manliness. 

35. Defendants Dowling and Eldridge bullied and harassed Aidan, and told him that 

he would have to fight Hassis in order to prove his toughness and manliness.   

36. Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others taunted Aidan during practice about 

the pending fight, and even “marked-off” a “ring” in the Football Program’s locker room using 

athletic tape.  Dowling and Eldridge and others took Aidan and Hassis to separate entrances to 

the Football Program’s locker room, and then forced Aidan and Hassis to “enter the ring” to 

flashing lights, loud music, and announcements to simulate a “prize fight.” 
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37. Aidan did not want to fight Hassis, but Defendants Dowling’s and Eldridge’s 

constant bullying and harassment led Aidan to feel as though he had no choice but to continue 

with the fight for fear of reprisal and continued bullying and harassment.   

38. Approximately 105 individuals witnessed the fight between Aidan and Hassis, 

including Defendant Anae, but none of these individuals, including Defendant Anae, did 

anything to stop the fight.  Several other student-athletes with the Football Program recorded or 

attempted to record videos of the fight on their cell phones. 

39. In fact, Aidan heard Defendant Anae yell “No phones,” and admonish the student-

athletes to put their cell phones away and to not record videos of the fight.  Defendant Anae, 

however, did nothing to stop the fight from proceeding. 

40. The fight came to an end when Aidan sustained severe eye injuries.  Aidan 

immediately experienced double-vision in his right eye and was in a significant amount of pain.  

His head hurt and he felt sick to his stomach.   

41. Aidan immediately sought out a University athletic trainer. 

42. While he was being treated by the University’s athletic trainer, Defendant Hagans 

came to see Aidan and check on his status.  

43. Aidan was told that he had a concussion, and that he would not be able to 

participate in practice. 

44. Despite Defendant Hagans’ knowledge of Aidan’s injuries, no one at the 

University reached out to Aidan until the following week, when Aidan’s father spoke to 

Defendant Hagans and requested a release from the National Letter of Intent. 
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45.   Despite Defendant Hagans’ knowledge of Aidan’s injuries, no one at the 

University took any action to reprimand or punish Defendants Hagan, Anae, Dowling, Eldridge, 

or anyone else with the Football Program. 

46. Aidan was subsequently granted a full release from his National Letter of Intent 

with UVA as a result of the gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination 

and physical, verbal, mental, and emotional abuse and harassment that he suffered at the hands of 

Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and the inaction of the University, its Athletic Department, 

and its Football Program, and in particular, Defendants Hagans and Anae.  A true and correct 

copy of Aidan’s National Letter of Intent Release is attached hereto as Exhibit A . 

47. Despite the University’s full knowledge of the reasons for Aidan requesting a 

release from his National Letter of Intent, the University simply noted in the National Letter of 

Intent Release that it was due to “conduct of others within the University” with no further 

comment or reason given for granting Aidan the requested release.  See Exhibit A .   

48. Aidan left the University and transferred to Robert Morris University (“RMU”) in 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  Aidan intended to compete with RMU’s Football program during the 

2016-2017 academic year.   

49. Unfortunately, after being seen by a physician in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, Aidan 

learned on September 20, 2016 that he actually suffered a broken orbital bone from the fight 

orchestrated and arranged by Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and allowed to proceed by 

Defendant Anae. 

50. Aidan’s injury to his orbital bone required surgery on September 29, 2016. 

51. Due to the severity of his injuries sustained as a result of the fight orchestrated 

and arranged by Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and allowed to proceed by Defendant Anae, 
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Aidan cannot compete with RMU’s Football program during the 2016-2017 academic year, and 

it is unclear if he will ever be able to play football again. 

52. The gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination and 

physical, verbal, mental, and emotional abuse that Aidan suffered at the hands of Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge, and others at the University, precluded Aidan from enjoying the benefits 

of his National Letter of Intent and athletic scholarship with UVA. 

53. The gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination and 

physical, verbal, mental, and emotional abuse that Aidan suffered at the hands of Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge, and others at the University, also denied Aidan the enjoyment of the 

social aspects inherent in the college experience at UVA. 

54. The gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination and 

physical, verbal, mental, and emotional abuse that Aidan suffered at the hands of Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge and others at the University constituted “hazing” and “bullying,” which 

are prohibited by the University’s Policy on Sexual and Gender-Based Harassment and Other 

Forms of Interpersonal Violence (the “SH/IPV Policy”) and the Football and Athletics 

Department 2016-2017 Team Rules.  A true and correct copy of the University’s SH/IPV Policy 

is attached hereto as Exhibit B .  A true and correct copy of the Football and Athletics 

Department 2016-2017 Team Rules is attached hereto as Exhibit C .   

55. The University’s SH/IPV Policy provides, in pertinent part, that: 

The University does not discriminate on the basis of sex or gender in any of its 
education or employment programs and activities. To that end, this policy 
prohibits specific forms of behavior that violate Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972 (“Title IX”); Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
(“Title VII”); and/or the Virginia Human Rights Act. Such behavior also requires 
the University to fulfill certain obligations under the Violence Against Women 
Reauthorization Act of 2013 (“VAWA”) and the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of 
Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (“Clery Act”). 
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The University prohibits Sexual Assault, Sexual Exploitation, Intimate Partner 
Violence, Stalking, Sexual or Gender-Based Harassment, Complicity in the 
commission of any act prohibited by this policy, and Retaliation against a person 
for the good faith reporting of any of these forms of conduct or participation in 
any investigation or proceeding under this policy (collectively, “Prohibited 
Conduct”). These forms of Prohibited Conduct are unlawful, undermine the 
character and purpose of the University, and will not be tolerated. 

 
(Exhibit B ). 
 

56. The Football and Athletics Department 2016-2017 Team Rules provides, in 

pertinent part, that: 

The University of Virginia prohibits Sexual Assault, Sexual Exploitation, Intimate 
Partner Violence, Stalking, Sexual or Gender-Based Harassment.  Complicity in 
the commission of any act prohibited by this policy, and Retaliation against a 
person for the good faith reporting of any of these forms of conduct or 
participation in any investigation or proceeding under this policy (collectively, 
“Prohibited Conduct”).  These forms of Prohibited Conduct are unlawful, 
undermine the character and purpose of the University, and will not be tolerated.  
Incidents of domestic abuse, sexual abuse, assaults, bullying or fights will not be 
tolerated.  NO offensive or abusive behavior will be accepted; respect and 
tolerance for differences (e.g. race, gender, religion, sexual orientation) is 
expected. 
 
. . . 
 
NO hazing or initiations.  No Rookie Night. 

 
(Exhibit C ). 
 

57. In addition, the National Collegiate Athletic Association, of which the University 

is a member institution, has published a handbook entitled “Building New Traditions: Hazing 

Prevention in College Athletics,” which places responsibility for preventing hazing on 

administrators and coaches.  A true and correct copy of Building New Traditions: Hazing 

Prevention in College Athletics is attached hereto as Exhibit D . 

58. Building New Traditions: Hazing Prevention in College Athletics provides, in 

pertinent part, that: 
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“ NCAA legislation describes a shared responsibility between the NCAA national 
office and the NCAA member institutions to protect the health and safety of all 
student-athletes! This shared responsibility demands attention to the ‘Culture of 
Hazing’ on our campuses.  Every year, NCAA schools experience hazing 
incidents that result in serious physical or emotional injury.  Students seeking 
acceptance on their new team become victims! Each incident is guised in the 
inappropriate and misguided concept of a traditional initiation.  Traditions that 
harm must be replaced with ones that build character and strengthen terms.” 

 
(Exhibit D ). 
 

59. Indeed, the NCAA Division I Manual provides, at Constitution, Article 2, that 

“[i]t is the responsibility of each member institution to protect the health of, and provide a safe 

environment for, each of its participating student-athletes.”  A true and correct copy of 

Constitution, Article 2 from the NCAA Division I Manual is attached hereto as Exhibit E . 

60. Defendant UVA, as well as Defendants Sullivan and Littlepage, did not educate 

the University’s employees, including Defendants Hagan and Anae, regarding the University’s 

SH/IPV Policy, the Football and Athletics Department 2016-2017 Team Rules, Building New 

Traditions: Hazing Prevention in College Athletics, or the NCAA Division I Manual. 

61. Defendant UVA, as well as Defendants Sullivan and Littlepage, did not enforce 

the University’s SH/IPV Policy, the Football and Athletics Department 2016-2017 Team Rules, 

Building New Traditions: Hazing Prevention in College Athletics, or the NCAA Division I 

Manual. 

62. Defendant UVA, as well as Defendants Sullivan and Littlepage, did not promote 

the University’s SH/IPV Policy, the Football and Athletics Department 2016-2017 Team Rules, 

Building New Traditions: Hazing Prevention in College Athletics, or the NCAA Division I 

Manual. 

63. Instead, Defendant UVA, as well as Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and 

Anae, in their respective individual capacities, completely ignored the University’s SH/IPV 

Case 2:16-cv-01576-DSC   Document 1   Filed 10/14/16   Page 12 of 21



13 

Policy, the Football and Athletics Department 2016-2017 Team Rules, Building New Traditions: 

Hazing Prevention in College Athletics, and the NCAA Division I Manual in allowing 

Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others to bully, abuse, harass, and discriminate against 

Aidan. 

64. Through their inaction, Defendant UVA, as well as Defendants Sullivan, 

Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their respective individual capacities, fostered a culture of 

bullying, abuse, harassment, and discrimination at the University which allowed Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge and others to bully, abuse, harass, and discriminate against Aidan.   

65. Indeed, Aidan witnessed Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others with the 

Football Program engage in bullying and harassing conduct against other first-year student-

athletes with the Football Program, including conduct which imitated and mimicked sexual acts.  

Aidan also witnessed Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others with the Football Program 

force other first-year student-athletes to participate in fights and wrestling matches while naked 

or partially naked, an act referred to at UVA as “ramming.”   

66. In addition to allowing Defendants Dowling and Eldridge and others to bully, 

abuse, harass, and discriminate against Aidan, Defendants UVA, Sullivan, and Littlepage have 

failed to take any disciplinary action against Defendants Hagans and Anae and Defendants 

Dowling and Eldridge, and have instead allowed them to continue to participate with the UVA 

Football program during the 2016-2017 academic year, while Aidan is not sure if he will ever 

play football again. 
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COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF TITLE IX OF THE EDUCATION AMENDMENTS A CT OF 1972 

Aidan Howard v. University of Virginia 
 

67. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

68. Defendants’ gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination constitute 

violations of Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972. 

69. The University received and continues to receive federal financial assistance, 

which it uses to support its academic and athletic programs.   

70. Aidan was subject to gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination. 

71. The gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination occurred under 

circumstances where the University exercised substantial control over both the harassers and the 

context in which the abuse, harassment, and discrimination occurred. 

72. The University had actual knowledge of the gender-based abuse, harassment, and 

discrimination. 

73. The University was deliberately indifferent to the gender-based abuse, 

harassment, and discrimination. 

74. The gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination was so severe, pervasive, 

and objectively offensive that it deprived Aidan of access to the educational opportunities and 

benefits provided by the University. 

75. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

violations of Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendant University of Virginia in an amount sufficient to compensate him for the gender-
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based abuse, harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and mental abuse 

he has suffered, medical expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate him for the 

damages incurred as a result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief this 

Honorable Court deems just and appropriate.  

COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973 

Aidan Howard v. University of Virginia 
 

76. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

77. Defendants’ disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination constitute 

violations of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

78. Aidan is disabled within the meaning of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973. 

79. Aidan was otherwise qualified to participate in school activities at the University, 

including the Football Program. 

80. The University received and continues to receive federal financial assistance, 

which it uses to support its academic and athletic programs.   

81. Aidan was excluded from participation in the Football Program and the 

University, was otherwise denied the benefits of participation in the Football Program and the 

University, and was subject to discrimination in the Football Program and at the University 

because of his disability.   

82. The University had actual knowledge of the disability-based abuse, harassment, 

and discrimination. 
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83. The University was deliberately indifferent to the disability-based abuse, 

harassment, and discrimination. 

84. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

violations of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendant University of Virginia in an amount sufficient to compensate him for the disability-

based abuse, harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and mental abuse 

he has suffered, medical expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate him for the 

damages incurred as a result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief this 

Honorable Court deems just and appropriate.  

COUNT III 
VIOLATION OF TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABIL ITIES ACT OF 1990 

Aidan Howard v. University of Virginia 
 

85. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

86. Defendants’ disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination constitute 

violations of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.   

87. Aidan is disabled within the meaning of Title II of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990. 

88. Aidan was otherwise qualified to participate in school activities at the University, 

including the Football Program. 

89. The University received and continues to receive federal financial assistance, 

which it uses to support its academic and athletic programs.   
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90. Aidan was excluded from participation in the Football Program and the 

University, was otherwise denied the benefits of participation in the Football Program and the 

University, and was subject to discrimination in the Football Program and at the University 

because of his disability.   

91. The University had actual knowledge of the disability-based abuse, harassment, 

and discrimination. 

92. The University was deliberately indifferent to the disability-based abuse, 

harassment, and discrimination. 

93. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

violations of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendant University of Virginia in an amount sufficient to compensate him for the disability-

based abuse, harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and mental abuse 

he has suffered, medical expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate him for the 

damages incurred as a result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief this 

Honorable Court deems just and appropriate.  

COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Aidan Howard v. Teresa A. Sullivan , Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans, Famika Anae 
 

94. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

95. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae 

acted under color of state law. 

Case 2:16-cv-01576-DSC   Document 1   Filed 10/14/16   Page 17 of 21



18 

96. Defendants’ gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination constitute 

violations of Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972. 

97. Defendants’ disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination constitute 

violations of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and Title II of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990.   

98. The gender- and disability-abuse, harassment, and discrimination deprived Aidan 

of his constitutional right to equal protection and due process.   

99. Accordingly, Defendants’ gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and 

discrimination constitute violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

100. Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their respective individual 

capacities, had actual knowledge of the gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and 

discrimination. 

101. Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their respective individual 

capacities, were deliberately indifferent to the gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, 

and discrimination. 

102. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendants Teresa A. Sullivan, Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans, and Famika Anae in an 

amount sufficient to compensate him for the gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and 

discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and mental abuse he has suffered, medical 

expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate him for the damages incurred as a 

result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including reasonable attorneys’ fees, pre-
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judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief this Honorable Court deems 

just and appropriate 

COUNT V 
NEGLIGENCE  

Aidan Howard v.  
University of Virginia, Teresa A. Sullivan , Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans,  

Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, and David Eldridge 
 
103. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

104. Defendant UVA, Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their 

respective individual capacities, as well as Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, had a duty to act 

with ordinary care toward Aidan. 

105. Defendant UVA, Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their 

respective individual capacities, as well as Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, breached their 

duty of care to Aidan by subjecting him to gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, and 

discrimination. 

106. The conducts of Defendant UVA, Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and 

Anae, in their respective individual capacities, as well as Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, 

proximately caused damages to Aidan. 

107. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

conduct, including but not limited to the gender- and disability-based abuse, harassment, 

discrimination to which he was subjected. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendants University of Virginia, Teresa A. Sullivan, Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans, 

Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, and David Eldridge in an amount sufficient to compensate him for 
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the gender-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and 

mental abuse he has suffered, medical expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate 

him for the damages incurred as a result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief 

this Honorable Court deems just and appropriate.  

COUNT VI 
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS 

Aidan Howard v.  
Teresa A. Sullivan , Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans,  

Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, and David Eldridge 
 

108. Aidan hereby incorporates all preceding Paragraphs of this Complaint as if the 

same were fully set forth herein. 

109. Aidan’s National Letter of Intent and athletic scholarship with UVA to become a 

student-athlete at the University and to compete with the University’s Football Program for the 

2016-2017 academic year was a valid, legal, and binding contract. 

110. Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their respective individual 

capacities, and Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, interfered with Aidan’s National Letter of 

Intent and athletic scholarship by subjecting him to gender- and disability-based abuse, 

harassment, and discrimination.   

111. Defendants Sullivan, Littlepage, Hagans, and Anae, in their respective individual 

capacities, and Defendants Dowling and Eldridge, did not have any privilege to interfere with 

Aidan’s National Letter of Intent and athletic scholarship by subjecting him to gender- and 

disability-based abuse, harassment, and discrimination.   
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112. Aidan has suffered and continues to suffer damages by reason of Defendants’ 

tortious interference with his National Letter of Intent and athletic scholarship, including but not 

limited to the loss of the benefits of his National Letter of Intent and scholarship. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands judgment in his favor and against 

Defendants Teresa A. Sullivan, Craig Littlepage, Marques Hagans, Famika Anae, Doni Dowling, 

and David Eldridge in an amount sufficient to compensate him for the gender-based abuse, 

harassment, and discrimination, and physical, verbal, emotional, and mental abuse he has 

suffered, medical expenses, and all other amounts necessary to compensate him for the damages 

incurred as a result of the Defendants’ tortious conduct, costs including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and any and all other relief this Honorable Court 

deems just and appropriate.  

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff Aidan Howard demands a trial by Jury on all issues so triable, pursuant to Rule 

38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

       

Dated: October 14, 2016    /s/ C. James Zeszutek     
C. James Zeszutek, Esq. 
Nicholas J. Godfrey, Esq. 
 
DINSMORE & SHOHL LLP 
One Oxford Centre, Suite 2800 
301 Grant Street 
Pittsburgh, PA 15219 
412.281.5000 (t) 
412.281.5055 (f) 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff Aidan Howard 

Case 2:16-cv-01576-DSC   Document 1   Filed 10/14/16   Page 21 of 21


